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Message 

From: Alisdair Cameron; Gp ~ on behalf of Alisdair Cameron
Sent: 24/05/2019 0_ _8_:12_:29_ 
To: Watts, Alan GRO 
CC: Ben Foat GRo_- _ v MasseyL Kirsten GRO-------_._._. ; Henderson, Tom 

GRO I Thomas Cooper GRO ; Tim Parker 
GRO -

Subject: RE: Privileged & Confidential 

Thanks Alan. We are very much in synch on this. The appeal to the court of appeal must be on narrow, legal 

grounds and we must be represented by a new QC. Your conversation with Helen was entirely consistent. 

The next steps are: 

- Meeting up with our Horizon QC to see if anything can be mitigated or improved 

- Agreeing our preparation, strategy and approach to settlement 

# i Cameron 
Interim Chief Executive 

20 Finsbury Street 
London 
EC2Y 9AQ 

GRO 

From: Watts, AlanL GRO 
Sent: 23 May 2019 20:24 
To: Alisdair Cameron _._._._._ GRO 

Cc: Cc: Ben Foat GRO ---.---.---.--- ;Massey, Kirsten _ _. -G RO j, Henderson, Tom 
GRO 

Subject: Privileged & Confidential 

rAil 
Ben has sent you a summary of today's hearing which means we now have 21 days to seek leave to appeal from the 
Court of Appeal. 

I therefore wanted to report back on our first meeting with Helen Davies QC, which Ben joined us for. 

All in all it was a very helpful meeting. In summary, Helen's views are as follows: 

• Key is to get the Court of Appeal interested in the appeal. We are at the more complex end of the range of 
appeals given the sheer number of points in issue — for that reason we really need to whittle down the appeal to 
those points that have real prospects of success. 
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• In essence we need to focus our firepower on errors of law, and ideally only those that go to commercially 
important issues. 

• She agrees that Common Issues 1 and 2 (relational contract, good faith, implied terms) are important and 
interesting legally. She thinks they will engage the Court of Appeal. This is a ripe area for examination. 

• She thinks that the Grounds of Appeal should be built around the errors of law flowing from the findings on 
good faith and gave some suggestions for reordering the Common Issues — i.e. to focus on the strongest points 
up front. 

• She saw the sense in putting everything to Fraser J today but wouldn't suggest running before the Court of 
Appeal (subject to us confirming none of the following points are commercially important): 

o Argument around procedural irregularity — as already discussed this has been rehearsed before and is in 
any event a very high hurdle to overcome 

o Any error of fact — in particular criticisms of individuals as the Judge was entitled to form his view of 
witnesses. She sees the relevance and force of the appeal on Bates' contract but advises against 
pursuing it. 

o In general she does not think that the Judge relied on post-contractual material to interpret the contracts, 
or at least it is unclear whether he did. For that reason, at present, she does not think we should be 
appealing on this basis. 

o Common Issue 23 (SPM's responsibility to train assistants) — she thinks we have the weaker argument on 
this point given it is difficult to envisage how an SPM could be expected to train assistants to a higher 
standard than he/she had been trained by Post Office. 

• She also questioned how far we should go in appealing terms that the judge implied on the basis of 
necessity. This is because the judge utilised the correct legal test, but may have misapplied it on the facts. This 
is a more challenging appeal than appealing the terms implied on the basis that the contracts were 
relational. This will depend on the commercial implications of the affected terms — i.e. if we can't live with them 
we should appeal them, if they are things we do anyway as they are covered by the necessary cooperation 
implied term we may leave them. 

• She is questioning our appeal of Common Issues 12 and 13 (obligations as agents and the BTS) and 8 
(construction of section 12 clause 12), but at present, subject to reordering the skeleton, seems content to keep 
them in. 

• Otherwise, she thinks the Grounds of Appeal needs to be considerably re-purposed and shortened. Grounds of 
Appeal should be succinct and list where the judge has erred in high level terms. The detail can go into the 
skeleton. Her primary concern is that a lengthy and unfocussed Grounds, particularly if it contains less 
meritorious argument, will annoy the Court of Appeal and hurt our chances. 

In addition, she is not in favour of us asking 3 Lord Justices to consider the application for permission to appeal (even if 
that is possible which is far from clear). She thinks this suggests a lack of confidence in our Grounds, and instead we 
should focus on going in strong. Her view is that Coulson is actually a fair minded judge and will give it a fair hearing if 
he is going to consider it. She doesn't think we should read across any inherent bias towards Post Office based on his 
harsh judgment in the recusal permission appeal — she was unsurprised by that judgment given the Court of Appeal 
intensely dislikes recusal appeals. 

In terms of immediate next steps, and assuming you're content for us to proceed with Helen: 

• I will speak to Andy Parsons about the appointment of Helen for the appeal. He will then need to speak with 
David Cavender. 

• We need to identify which, if not both, of David's juniors will assist Helen. We agree it is crucial that there is 
continuity of juniors with knowledge of the case. 

• We are going to give Helen access to the WBD document platform, in particular the authorities bundle. 
• We are going to update the Grounds in the next few days based on Helen's feedback. Helen will then work on 

the Grounds and skeleton. She is away from chambers next week but will still have some time to work on 
matters but will really focus on the heavy lifting the following week. The deadline for the appeal papers is 13 
June. 
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If helpful to discuss any of this please let me know. 

Regards 

Alan 

I-Ierbert Smith Freehills LLP and its subsidiaries and Herbert Smith Freehills, an Australian Partnership, are separate member firms of the 
international legal practice known as Herbert Smith Freehills. 

This message is confidential and may be covered by legal professional privilege. If you are not the intended recipient you must not disclose or use the 
information contained in it. If you have received this email in error please notify us immediately by return email or by calling our main switchboard 
on +44 20 7374 8000 and delete the email. 

Further information is available from www_ht rbertsmithfreehills.corn, including our Privacy Policy which describes how we handle personal 
information. 

Herbert Smith Freehills LLP is a Limited Liability Partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC310989. It is authorised 
and regulated by the Solicitors' Regulation Authority of England and Wales whose rules can be accessed via www.sra.oguk/code-of-conduct.page.
A list of the members and their professional qualifications is open to inspection at the registered office, Exchange House, Primrose Street, London 
EC2A 2EG. We use the word partner of Herbert Smith Freehills LLP to refer to a member of Herbert Smith Freehills LLP, or an employee or 
consultant with equivalent standing and qualifications. Herbert Smith Freehills LLP's registration number for Value Added Tax in the United 
Kingdom is GB 927 1996 83. 
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